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April 20, 2012

U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission
Washington, DC 20555-0001

Attention: Document Control Desk

Subject: Reply to a Notice of Violation (Notice)

Reference: U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission's Notice of Violation dated March 29, 2012 from
R.K. Johnson to P. Johnson Under Passport Systems, Inc., Special Nuclear Materials
License SNM-2016/Docket No. 70-7022

Attachment: Passport Response to Notice of Violation issued by the NRC on March 29, 2012

Dear Sir or Madam:

Passport Systems, Inc. (Passport) hereby submits the following in response to the referenced notice of
violation. As stated within the Notice of Violation (N.O.V) there was a violation of Title 10 of the Code
of Federal Regulations (10 CFR) 70.9. This regulation states, in part, information provided the
Commission shall be complete and accurate in all material respects. It is also stated within the N.O.V.
that there was a violation of 10 CFR 70.22(a)(4), which states each applicant for a license to possess and
use special nuclear material (SNM) must provide the name, amount, and specification (including the
chemical and physical form and, where applicable, isotopic content) of the SNM the applicant proposes
to use or produce.

Passport accepts the violation and takes the issues brought about through the N.O.V. seriously. There
will be a series of actions taken to be compliant with the Commission. The Commission will find the
reply to the N.O.V. attached to this letter, in the format specified in the N.O.V.

Should you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact our Radiation Safety Officer, Dr. Steve
Korbly at (978) 263-9900, ext. 2206 or the undersigned at (978) 263-9900, 2207.

Yours truly,

Paul H. Johnson
Vice President, Contracts and Administration
Passport Systems, Inc.

Cc: S. Korbly, Radiation Safety Officer, Passport Systems, Inc.
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PASSPORT RESPONSE TO NOTICE OF VIOLATION ISSUED BY
THE NRC ON MARCH 29, 2012

VIOLATION

During the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission's (NRC's) review of Passport Systems, Inc.'s,
(Passport) license and other related documents conducted from February 7, 2012, to
February 18, 2012, a violation of NRC requirements was identified. In accordance with the NRC
Enforcement Policy, the violation is set forth below:

Title 10 of the Code of Federal Regulations (10 CFR) 70.9 states, in part, information
provided the Commission shall be complete and accurate in all material respects.

Each application for a license to possess and use special nuclear material is required to
meet the requirements of 10 CFR 70.22(a)(4) which states each applicant for a license to
possess and use special nuclear material (SNM) must provide the name, amount, and
specifications (including the chemical and physical form and, where applicable, isotopic
content) of the SNM the applicant proposes to use or produce. As such, the SNM License
(SNM-2016) relied entirely on the representations of the source specifications provided in
the documents listed in Safety Condition 9.

Contrary to the above, on September 23, 2011, the licensee provided a Supplement to their
application which amended the specifications for the dimensions of the enriched low-
enriched uranium (LEU) sources from those listed in the original license application. The
height of the LEU sources was amended from 2.0 centimeters (cm) to 2.5 cm. Neither the
mass of SNM nor the total mass of the sources changed as a result of the change in
dimension. This amended application (Supplement) was the basis for the description of
the sources used in the Safety Evaluation Report (SER) and the criticality
safety analysis performed on the sources listed in the SER with the dimensions provided
in the Supplement. Based on inconsistent specifications identified during NRC staffs
review of the relevant licensing documents, Passport was directed to confirm the
specifications of all of the sources in their license. On February 18, 2012, Passport
provided an e-mail confirmation to NRC that identified a discrepancy in the specifications
in the Supplement. The height of the LEU sources was provided as being 2.0 cm instead of
2.5 cm as amended by the Supplement. Therefore, Passport's license referred to
specifications that did not accurately reflect the actual specifications of the sources received
and used by Passport at their facility in N. Billerica, MA.

The staff considered this violation of NRC's requirements for escalated enforcement action
pursuant to the NRC Enforcement Policy Section 6.9.c. 1 as a potential Severity Level III
violation. While the staff may not have reconsidered a regulatory position had it been
provided with accurate information, it was forced to undertake further inquiry to
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appropriately disposition this violation. In determining whether the inquiry was substantial,
the staff considered the safety significance, resource implications, licensee responsiveness,
and pervasiveness of the inaccurate information. Ultimately, upon consideration of these
factors, the staff determined that escalated enforcement was not warranted in this instance.
The staff notes that if inaccurate or incomplete information is provided on a recurring basis
it would likely initiate a substantial inquiry and may be forced to reconsider a regulatory
position.

This is a Severity Level IV violation (Section 6.9.d).

1. REASON FOR VIOLATION

With these codes and regulations in mind, Passport submitted a Supplement on September 23, 2011,
which amended the specifications listed initially within the SNM license (SNM-2016). The
amendment included a change in height of the low-enriched Uranium (LEU) sources. The height of
the LEU sources was amended from 2.0 centimeters (cm) to 2.5 cm. The mass of the total source and
of the SNM was unchanged due to this amendment. This Supplement was the basis of the Safety
Evaluation Report (SER). After reviewing the dimensions of the LEU sources as requested by the
Commission, it was confirmed that Passport had reported the incorrect value for the height of the
LEU in the Supplement provided on September 23, 2011. This confirmed Passport's license referred
to specifications that did not accurately reflect the actual specifications of the LEU sources received
and used.

2. CORRECTIVE ACTION TAKEN

Passport has submitted the requested information required by the Commission with respect to the
actual dimensions of the sources. A draft amendment was submitted on February 29, 2012,
correcting the height of the LEU sources. Passport has contacted the manufacturers of the LEU
sources and has asked them to verify all dimensions, masses, and SNM masses, as well as
enrichment levels. Passport submitted a formal amendment request on April 20, 2012 modifying its
NRC SNM license to account for the actual dimensions of the LEU sources received to date.
Passport has also amended the receipt forms for SNM, which call for the receiver to record the
theoretical dimensions and the theoretical masses. The form asks the receiver to confirm whether the
dimensions and masses of the received material match the theoretical values on the SNM license.
Passport has updated its SNM shipment receipt forms to explicitly require the receiver to confirm the
dimensions.

3. CORRECTIVE STEPS THAT WILL BE TAKEN

In the future, Passport will require the shipper to confirm in writing the masses and dimensions of
the incoming material prior to requesting shipment. This procedure should prevent materials that do
not match the source specifications within the license from shipping to Passport.
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4. DATE WHEN FULL COMPLIANCE WILL BE ACHIEVED

Effective April 5, 2012 the corrective steps taken have been formally incorporated into Passport's
written procedures to achieve full compliance. As noted in Section 3, this will be a continuing effort
going forward, and as the chances occur, Passport will adhere to the corrective issues and continue
compliance with the Commission. Passport will strive to meet compliance on a consistence basis
and avoid any further reviews of compliance.
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UNITED STATES
NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20555-0001

March 29, 2012

Mr. Paul Johnson
Vice President, Contracts

and Administration
Passport Systems, Inc.
N. Billerica, MA 01862

SUBJECT: U.S. NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION'S NOTICE OF VIOLATION
UNDER PASSPORT SYSTEMS, INC., SPECIAL NUCLEAR MATERIALS
LICENSE SNM-2016

Dear Mr. Johnson:

This letter refers to the licensing review conducted by the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory
Commission's (NRC's) staff February 7 through February 18, 2012, related to the possession
limits in Passport Systems, Inc's., (Passport) Special Nuclear Materials License SNM-2016, and
subsequent submittals requested from the licensee. The purpose of the review was to resolve
the difference found in the specificati6ns between the license application as supplemented and
other licensing documents reviewed. The review revealed that the dimensions of the sources
received by Passport were not accurately described in the amended application (Supplement)
referenced in the license. This discrepancy raised safety concerns with the NRC staff over the
accuracy of the masses of the sources evaluated in the criticality analysis.

The NRC requested that Passport confirm the specifications referenced in their license with
specifications to be provided independently by the Department of Homeland Security (DHS). In
a letter e-mailed to NRC from Passport dated February 18, 2012, Passport confirmed a
discrepancy in the dimensions of the low-enriched uranium (LEU) sources. Passport's
Supplement listed the height of the LEU sources as 2.5 centimeters (cm) each; while their
February 18, 2012, e-mail showed the height of the sources as 2.0 cm. Neither the mass of
SNM nor the total mass of the sources changed.

The NRC staff conducted a thorough review of all documents provided by Passport. The
documentation review consisted of a comparison of the Supplement to your license application
dated September 23, 2011; Passport's License SNM-2016 dated December 14, 2011, and the
Safety Evaluation Report; and confirmation of the specifications that you provided to the NRC
on February 18, 2012, after consulting with OHS. The review compared the detailed
specifications of the SNM sources to be used under your license in the testing program at your
facility. In a telephone call on February 21, 2012, the findings of this review and an apparent
violation of NRC requirements was discussed with you and Mr. Steve Korbly of your staff.

The NRC staff reviewed its criticality safety analysis which staff had performed previously as a
confirmation to the evaluation submitted by the licensee. The staff s review showed that the
original analysis bounded the change in specifications provided by Passport in their
February 18, 2012, e-mail. Based on this review, it was determined that no safety issue existed
at the licensee's facility based on the sources received.
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Based on the results of this review, the NRC has determined that a Severity Level IV violation of
NRC requirements occurred. The violation was evaluated in accordance with the NRC
Enforcement Policy. The current Enforcement Policy is included on the NRC's Web site at
(http://www.nrc.,iov/about-nrc/regulatorv/enforcement/enforce-pol.html).

The violation is cited in the enclosed Notice of Violation (Notice). You are required to respond
to this letter and should follow the instructions specified in the enclosed Notice when preparing
your response. If you have additional information that you believe the NRC should consider,
you may provide it in your response to the Notice.

Passport has taken a number of corrective actions including: (1) contacting the manufacturer of
the sources to verify the specifications independent of DHS; (2) providing the NRC adraft
license amendment request on February 29, 2012; and (3) committing to submit a formal
amendment request to change the discrepancy in their license.

In accordance with Title 10 of the Code of Federal Regulations (10 CFR) 2.390 of the NRC's
"Rules of Practice," a copy of this letter, its enclosures, and your response will be made
available electronically for public inspection in the NRC Public Document Room or from the
NRC's Agencywide Documents Access and Management System (ADAMS). ADAMS is
accessible from the NRC Web site at http:/lwww.nrc..qov/readinci-rmladams.html. To the extent
possible, your response should not include any personal privacy or proprietary information so
that it can be made available to the public without redaction.

Thank you for your cooperation. If you have any questions, please contact me at
301-492-3175, or via e-mail to Robert.Johnsone@nrc..gov.

Sincerely,

Robert K. Johnson, Chief
Fuel Manufacturing Branch
Division of Fuel Cycle Safety

and Safeguards
Office of Nuclear Material Safety

and Safeguards

Docket No. 70-7022
License No. SNM-2016

Enclosure:
Notice of Violation



NOTICE OF VIOLATION

Passport Systems, Inc. Docket No. 70-7022
N. Billerica, Massachusetts License No. SNM-2016

During the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission's (NRC's) review of Passport Systems, Inc.'s,
(Passport) license and other related documents conducted from February 7, 2012, to
February 18, 2012, a violation of NRC requirements was identified. In accordance with the NRC
Enforcement Policy, the violation is set forth below:

Title 10 of the Code of Federal Regulations (10 CFR) 70.9 states, in part, information
provided the Commission shall be complete and accurate in all material respects.

Each application for a license to possess and use special nuclear material is required to
meet the requirements of 10 CFR 70.22(a)(4) which states each applicant for a license
to possess and use special nuclear material (SNM) must provide the name, amount, and
specifications (including the chemical and physical form and, where applicable, isotopic
content) of the SNM the applicant proposes to use or produce. As such, the SNM
License (SNM-2016) relied entirely on the representations of the source specifications
provided in the documents listed in Safety Condition 9.

Contrary to the above, on September 23, 2011, the licensee provided a Supplement to
their application which amended the specifications for the dimensions of the enriched
low-enriched uranium (LEU) sources from those listed in the original license application.
The height of the LEU sources was amended from 2.0 centimeters (cm) to 2.5 cm.
Neither the mass of SNM nor the total mass of the sources changed as a result of the
change in dimension. This amended application (Supplement) was the basis for the
description of the sources used in the Safety Evaluation Report (SER) and the criticality
safety analysis performed on the sources listed in the SER with the dimensions provided
in the Supplement. Based on inconsistent specifications identified during NRC staff's
review of the relevant licensing documents, Passport was directed to confirm the
specifications of all of the sources in their license. On February 18, 2012, Passport
provided an e-mail confirmation to NRC that identified a discrepancy in the specifications
in the Supplement. The height of the LEU sources was provided as being 2.0 cm
instead of 2.5 cm as amended by the Supplement. Therefore, Passport's license
referred to specifications that did not accurately reflect the actual specifications of the
sources received and used by Passport at their facility in N. Billerica, MA.

The staff considered this violation of NRC's requirements for escalated enforcement
action pursuant to the NRC Enforcement Policy Section 6.9.c.1 as a potential Severity
Level III violation. While the staff may not have reconsidered a regulatory position had it
been provided with accurate information, it was forced to undertake further inquiry to
appropriately disposition this violation. In determining whether the inquiry was
substantial, the staff considered the safety significance, resource implications, licensee
responsiveness, and pervasiveness of the inaccurate information. Ultimately, upon
consideration of these factors, the staff determined that escalated enforcement was not
warranted in this instance. The staff notes that if inaccurate or incomplete information is
provided on a recurring basis it would likely initiate a substantial inquiry and may be
forced to reconsider a regulatory position.

Enclosure
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This is a Severity Level IV violation (Section 6.9.d).

Pursuant to the provisions of 10 CFR 2.201, Passport is hereby required to submit a written
statement or explanation to: U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, ATTN: Document Control
Desk, Washington, DC 20555-0001, within 30 days of the date of the letter transmitting this
Notice of Violation (Notice). This reply should be clearly marked as a "Reply to a Notice of
Violation;" and should include for each violation: (1) the reason for the violation, or, if contested,
the basis for disputing the violation or severity level; (2) the corrective steps that have been
taken and the results achieved; (3) the corrective steps that will be taken; and (4) the date when
full compliance will be achieved. Your response may reference or include previous docketed
correspondence if the correspondence adequately addresses the required response. If an
adequate reply is not received within the time specified in this Notice, an Order or a
Demand for Information may be issued as to why the license should not be modified,
suspended, or revoked-or why such other action, as may be proper, should not be taken.
Where good cause is shown, consideration will be given to extending the response time. If you
contest this enforcement action, you should also provide a copy of your response, with the basis
for your denial to: Director, Office of Enforcement, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission,
Washington, DC 20555-0001.

Because your response will be made available electronically for public inspection in the NRC
Public Document Room or from the NRC's document system (Agencywide Documents Access
and Management System), accessible from the NRC Web site at http:/Iwww.nrc.govf
readinci-rm/adams.html to the extent possible, it should not include any personal privacy,
proprietary, or safeguards information so that it can be made available to the public without
redaction. If personal privacy or proprietary information is necessary to provide an acceptable
response, then please provide a bracketed copy of your response that identifies the information
that should be protected and a redacted copy of your response that deletes such information. If
you request withholding of such material, you must specifically identify the portions of your
response that you seek to have withheld and provide in detail the bases for your claim of
withholding (e.g., explain why the disclosure of information will create an unwarranted invasion
of personal privacy or provide the information required by 10 CFR 2.390(b) to support a request
for withholding confidential commercial or financial informatioh). If safeguards information is
necessary to provide an acceptable response, please provide the level of protection described
in 10 CFR 73.21.

In accordance with 10 CFR 19.11, you may be required to post this Notice within 2 working
days.

Dated this _ day of March 2012.


